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Sir,


Please accept this letter concerning the appeal lodged by the Quebec Department of Municipal Affairs before your tribunal regarding ownership of the Cégep de l’Outaouais lands – your file numbers SAI-Q-130897-0610/SAI-Q-130881-0610.


The purpose of this letter is to demonstrate the inadmissibility of the Department of Municipal Affairs’ position on this issue, a position which maintains confusion that seriously undermines Gatineau Park’s ecological and territorial integrity. That position may be summed up as follows: the federal government should be registered as owner of the Cégep de l’Outaouais lands, and it should make payments in lieu of taxes to the City of Gatineau for them.


Please note that the National Capital Commission (NCC) is also maintaining confusion on this matter, since it claims, on page 75 of its 2005 Master Plan for Gatineau Park, that the Quebec government owns about 17% of Gatineau Park. Not only is that claim false, it is diametrically opposed to the argument it is making before your tribunal in the context of this appeal. 


The Department of Municipal Affairs’ position is inadmissible for the following reason:  the Quebec government owns the Cégep de l’Outaouais lands by virtue of the Agreement Regarding the Transfer of Control and Management of Certain Public Lands in the Quebec Portion of the National Capital Region. Moreover, the two orders-in-council accompanying the agreement certified this transfer. 
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That agreement, signed on August 1, 1973 by the Quebec government and the NCC, provided for an exchange “in perpetuity” of lands between the two parties. Accordingly, the Quebec government transferred to the NCC “control and management” of 17% of the Gatineau Park lands it owned, i.e., 12,500 acres located in the Municipality of Pontiac. In turn, the NCC transferred “control and management” to the Quebec government of certain lands it owned, including the 67.6 acre Cégep de l’Outaouais property.


Moreover, the agreement was preceded by federal
 and Quebec
 orders-in-council authorizing the parties to exchange administration, in perpetuity, of lands described therein. 


However, even if the facts confirm that the Quebec government owns the Cégep lands, it persists in claiming that they belong to the NCC – using an irrelevant argument to support that claim. To wit: according to a newspaper article quoting the then Quebec Interprovincial Affairs Minister, Benoît Pelletier, the 1973 agreement still needs to be “finalized,” “officialised,” and “clarified.”  The reason given: the titles were never registered with the land registry office.
  That argument is totally absurd and has nothing to do with the 1973 agreement’s validity. As Professor David Mundell has written:

Land held by the federal and provincial governments are both vested in Her Majesty but […] the administration of the land is carried out on her behalf by or through different representatives. It follows that no conveyance of title can be made by one government to another. Title remains throughout in her Majesty.  All that need be transferred is the authority and duty to administer the lands on behalf of Her Majesty […] by complementary Orders-in-Council […]. No further conveyance is necessary nor would it be proper.
   


In the specific case of the Gatineau Park lands, the Crown in right of Canada effectively transferred management and control of the Cégep de l’Outaouais lands to the Crown in right of Quebec, in exchange for lands located in the municipality of Pontiac, as a result of the 1973 agreement.

The legal principle that helps explain this issue is called indivisibility of the Crown, a principle considered to be a cornerstone of Canadian constitutional law. 
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Application of the principle to real estate transactions has been described as follows: 


A transfer of property between the federal government and a province is not done 
by ordinary conveyance, because of the principle of indivisibility of the Crown. 
Her Majesty is the owner of the property whether in the right of Canada or a 
province and cannot grant to Herself. Only administrative control of the property 
passes.


The term “transfer of administration and control” is used to describe the process whereby real property is conveyed between the federal and provincial Crowns. In practical terms, the transfer of administration and control is treated as a transfer of a proprietary interest.   


The principle that “Her Majesty” is one and indivisible was confirmed in 1945 by the Supreme Court of Canada in the case of Attorney General of Canada v. Western Higbie and Albion Investments Ltd.
 Hence, the federal Crown cannot convey or deed lands to a provincial Crown or vice versa, since that would mean the Crown is conveying or deeding to itself:


There is no real conveyance of property since His Majesty the King remains the 
owner in either case and, therefore, it is only the administration of the property 
which passes from the control of the Executive of the Province to the Executive of 
the Dominion. When the Crown, in right of the province, transfers land to the 
Crown, in right of the Dominion, it parts with no right. What takes place is 
merely a change of administrative control.  


Moreover, although some have argued that the principle of indivisibility of the Crown is “archaic,” 
 it is still being applied and is reinforced by sections 16(1)(e) and (f) of the Federal Real Property and Federal Immovables Act
 which provide that:


16.(1) Despite any regulations made under subsection (2), the Governor in 
Council may, on the recommendation of the Treasury Board, in accordance with 
any terms and subject to any conditions and restrictions that the Governor in 
Council considers advisable,


(e) transfer to Her Majesty in any right other than Canada administration and 
control of the entire or any lesser interest, or any right, of Her majesty in any 
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federal real property or federal immovable, either in perpetuity or for any lesser 
term; 


(f) accept, on behalf of Her Majesty, the transfer of administration and control of 
real property or immovables from Her Majesty in any right other than Canada, 
including any such transfer made by grant, concession, vesting order other 
conveyancing instrument or other transfer act.


The principle is further reinforced by sections 5(1) and (2) of the Federal Real Property Regulations
 made pursuant to the above Act. 


Therefore, the Quebec government is making an irrelevant argument in saying that the 1973 agreement is not valid since the titles have not been registered. Legally, nothing compels it to register the document with the land registry office – even where such a practice might have become common. 


As further evidence confirming the 1973 agreement’s validity, and the Quebec government’s ownership of the Cégep de l’Outaouais lands, allow me to list the following arguments:


a) In its inventory of federal lands in the Outaouais, the Quebec Department of the 
Environment and Natural Resources, lists all properties included in the 1973 
agreement and located in the Municipality of Pontiac, as federal. This document 
also provides maps confirming lands transferred by the 1973 agreement as federal 
(See:  Inventaire des parcelles fédérales, région administrative de l’Outaouais 
(07), Volume II, Gouvernement du Québec, Ministère de l’Énergie et des 
Ressources, Service de l’intégrité du territoire, 1980, pp. 1343-1353). I underline 
that those lands are federal only by virtue of the 1973 agreement, and their 
exchange for the Cégep de l’Outaouais lands.

b) The Department of Public Works, in its 1984 registry of federal lands in the Outaouais, lists as federal the lands transferred by the 1973 agreement that are located in the Municipality of Pontiac (See: Profil des propriétés fédérales : région de la capitale fédérale, Travaux publics Canada, Direction des services de l’immobilier, p. 14).


c) On two occasions, in 2003 and 2006, the Quebec Department of Municipal 
Affairs asked the City of Gatineau to amend its tax assessment role, arguing it did 
not own the Cégep de l’Outaouais lands, and that payments in lieu of taxes for 
them should be made by the NCC, their “real” owner. On two occasions, the City 
of Gatineau refused to make the requested change.
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d) On May 26, 2007, I spoke with Mr. Oswald Parent, cosignatory to the 1973 agreement, and provincial minister of intergovernmental affairs at the time. He confirmed the following:



1) The agreement transferred control of the Cégep lands to the Quebec 


government;



2) In exchange, the NCC received the 12,500 acres located in the 



Municipality of Pontiac;



3) There was never any question of transferring titles or registering the 


agreement;



4) The agreement came into effect six months following its signature, as 


stipulated by Section C-1;



5) The parties never discussed any other instrument of transfer, since, 


according to Mr. Parent, the agreement and accompanying orders-in- 


council were all that was needed for it to come into effect.


e) The NCC’s immediate past CEO, Ms. Micheline Dubé, confirmed in a letter 
she sent me on September 14, 2007, that: “The NCC has asserted to the province 
of Quebec its position that the 1973 agreement is valid and that, as between the 
province of Quebec and the NCC, the agreement transferred ownership.”


e) In a letter sent to me on March 13, 2008, the Municipality of Gatineau 
confirmed that the province is making payments in lieu of taxes for the Cégep de 
l’Outaouais lands. As far as I know, a government doesn’t make payments in 
lieu of taxes for lands it doesn’t own …

f) In a letter dated October 21, 2008, the Municipality of Pontiac informed me that the NCC was making payments in lieu of taxes for the lands located on its territory that were transferred by the 1973 agreement, adding that “the Quebec government makes no payments in lieu of taxes for lands located in Gatineau Park.” Furthermore, the Municipality’s director general told me on December 18, 2008 that the Quebec government has requested no amendment to Pontiac’s tax assessment role in order to make payments in lieu of taxes on those lands. This would have been the logical corollary to the request it made with the City of Gatineau…

I believe the preceding clearly demonstrates the validity of the 1973 agreement, as well as the inadmissibility of the Quebec government’s position in the appeal referenced in this letter. Therefore, I urge your tribunal to settle this question once and for all to dissipate the confusion that persists on this matter, and which seriously undermines Gatineau Park’s ecological and territorial integrity.
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In closing, please note that I’m prepared to intervene in this appeal during the hearings scheduled for next May, should you think this might help dissipate all the fog surrounding the issue.


Attached, please find copies of the following documents:


1) The 1973 agreement;


2) Order-in-Council P.C. 1973-4/437;


3) Quebec Order-in-Council 3736-72


4) The letter the NCC’s former CEO sent me on September 14, 2007;


5) The letter from the City of Gatineau on the Cégep de l’Outaouais lands;


6) The letter from the Municipality of Pontiac confirming that the NCC owns the 
lands located in Gatineau Park and within the boundaries of that municipality.


Thanking you for the attention you will give the above, I remain, 

Yours sincerely,

(Translation of original signed by)

Jean-Paul Murray

President
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